THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry M. Buckner, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 28 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2017-CP-07-02636
Appellate Case No. 2018-001092

Joseph Holmes, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of David Holmes, Respondent,

v.

Bayview Manor, LLC, d/b/a Bayview Manor,
Epic Group, LP, and Epic General, LLC, Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS BAYVIEW MANOR, LLC, D/B/A BAYVIEW MANOR,
EPIC GROUP, LP, AND EPIC GENERAL, LLC**

W. McElhaney White
Joshua T. Thompson
Holcombe Bomar, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 1897
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 594-5300
mwhite@holcombebomar.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court must be overturned and the waivers of jury trial enforced because the Admissions Agreements containing the waiver were duly-executed and binding on Respondent.
- II. Whether the trial court must be overturned because federal regulations regarding Medicare and Medicaid do not govern the enforceability of the waiver of jury trial provisions.
- III. Whether the trial court must be overturned because the waiver of jury trial provision was supported by consideration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 15, 2017, Joseph Holmes as Personal Representative of the Estate of David Holmes (“Respondent”), filed a Summons and Complaint against Bayview Manor, LLC, d/b/a Bayview Manor (“Bayview”), Epic Group, LP, and Epic General, LLC (collectively, “Appellants”). [R. p. 17 – 49.] Respondent alleged Appellants provided care to David Holmes (“Mr. Holmes”) which fell below the standard of care in 2014 – 2015. Appellants timely answered on January 12, 2018, denying liability. [R. p. 50 – 69.]

On March 27, 2018, Appellants filed a Notice of and Motion for Nonjury Trial (“Motion”). [R. p. 70 – 93.] The Motion was based on the terms and provisions of the waiver of jury trial clauses found in the Admission Agreements signed at the time of Mr. Holmes’ admission to Bayview on December 2, 2014 (“December Admission Agreement”), and on February 17, 2015 (“February Admission Agreement”) (the December Admission Agreement and February Admission Agreement will be referred to collectively as the “Admission Agreements”). [R. p. 72 – 82; R. p. 83 – 93.]

Appellants prepared and filed a detailed memorandum of law addressing the Motion (“Memo in Support”). [R. p. 94 – 182.] On April 25, 2018, The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III (the “trial court”) heard the Motion. [R. p. 198 – 223.] By order dated and filed May 15, 2018, the

trial court denied the Motion (“Order”). [R. p. 2 – 8.] Appellants then filed a Notice of and Motion to Alter or Amend on May 23, 2018 (“Motion to Alter or Amend”). [R. p. 183 – 197.] By order dated June 7, 2018, and filed June 8, 2018, the trial court denied the Motion to Alter or Amend (“Order on Motion to Alter or Amend”). [R. p. 9 – 16.]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Holmes suffered a choking incident on or about October 13, 2014. He suffered an anoxic brain injury and remained in a vegetative state. He was admitted to Mt. Pleasant Hospital where he remained until December 2, 2014. [R. p. 94.]

On December 2, 2014, the day of Mr. Holmes’ admission to Bayview, Mr. Holmes, through his sister and court-appointed Guardian, Dorothy Olenja (“Dorothy”), entered into the December Admission Agreement which set forth the rights and obligations of the parties. [R. p. 72 – 82.] It contained a waiver of jury trial provision. [R. p. 80.] Mr. Holmes was discharged from Bayview on December 23, 2014 and returned to Bayview on February 17, 2015. [R. p. 94.] At the time of his readmission, Mr. Holmes, through his sister and responsible party, Margaret Holmes (“Margaret”), entered into the February Admission Agreement, which again contained a waiver of jury trial provision. [R. p. 91.] Rebecca Jensen, the Admissions Director of Bayview, executed the Admission Agreements on behalf of Bayview. [R. p. 93.]

The waiver of jury trial provisions in the Admission Agreements were identical, and they read as follows:

Waiver of Jury Trial: (Please read carefully)

Resident hereby knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waives the right to trial by jury with respect to any litigation, including any counterclaim which Resident may assert, arising from or relating to this Agreement or any other document connected with this Agreement, or arising out of or relating to any of the said documents or any relationship between the Facility and Resident, including the Resident’s admission itself, or any other course of conduct, course of dealing statements (whether verbal or written) or actions of the Facility or Resident.

Resident represents and warrants that the waiver contained in this Paragraph has been freely and voluntarily made after reviewing the same, or having had an opportunity to review the same, with counsel of Resident's choice.

[R. p. 80; R. p. 91.]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014). The appellate court reviews questions of law “with no particular deference to the circuit court's findings.” Id. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 441.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court must be overturned and the waivers of jury trial enforced because the Admissions Agreements containing the waiver were duly-executed and binding on Respondent.**
 - a. The jury trial waivers contained within the Admission Agreements are valid and enforceable.**

Rule 39, SCRPC, provides in part that when a trial by jury is demanded as provided in Rule 38, SCRPC the trial of all issues so demanded shall be by jury unless the court upon motion finds that a right of trial by jury of some or all of those issues does not exist. Rule 39(a), SCRPC.

In the case at bar, the right of trial by jury does not exist. The waiver of jury trial is enforceable. In The Beach Company v. Twillman, LTD., 351 S.C. 56, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct.App. 2002), the Court of Appeals held that a party may waive the right to a jury trial by contract, and that while such a waiver must be strictly construed, the terms in a contract must be construed using their plain, ordinary and popular meaning. Id. at 866.

In that case, the waiver of jury trial was contained in section 27.16 of a lease entitled “Waiver of Counterclaim”, and it stated:

Tenant waives any and all right to trial by jury or to interpose any counterclaim in any summary proceedings for eviction or nonpayment of Rent. Any and all claims or 'counterclaims' that may be asserted by Tenant shall only be made the subject of a separate action. In such separate action, it is agreed that trial by jury shall be waived by both parties. Id. at 864.

The waiver of jury trial found in the Admission Agreements is clearer than the one upheld in The Beach Company. Furthermore, rather than being included in a section entitled "Waiver of Counterclaim", the waiver in the case at bar was included in a section entitled "**Waiver of Jury Trial: (Please read carefully)**" (emphasis in original). [R. p. 80; R. p. 91.]

Respondent filed the Affidavit of Robert Escarza, MD with his Notice of Intent to Sue. Dr. Escarza opined "that appropriate skin care protocols were not adhered to during at least the first two weeks after admission to Bayview". Dr. Escarza also wrote Mr. Holmes "was discharged back to Bayview on 2-17-15. Documentation from this point forward reflects ongoing and more diligent skin care." [R. p. 161.] In his affidavit, Respondent's expert expressed concern about the care and treatment provided to Mr. Holmes during his first admission to Bayview (in December 2014) rather than his second admission (in February 2015). [R. p. 160 – 162.]

As noted above, the December Admission Agreement was signed by Dorothy. Dorothy had been appointed as Temporary Guardian for Mr. Holmes on October 27, 2014, only a week before Mr. Holmes' admission to Bayview. Under the court's order, Mr. Holmes was adjudged to be an incapacitated person, and Dorothy was appointed as temporary guardian with the right to care and custody of Mr. Holmes with all the authority of a permanent guardian as set out in the Probate Code. [R. p. 163 – 165.]

Under S.C. Code Ann. §62-5-310, a temporary guardian is entitled to the care and custody of the ward with the same authority of a permanent guardian. Under S.C. Code Ann. §62-5-312, a guardian of an incapacitated person has the same powers, rights and duties respecting his ward

that a parent has respecting his unemancipated minor child. This includes, but is not limited to, the giving of any consents or approvals that may be necessary to enable the ward to receive medical or other professional care, counsel, treatment, or service. Id. Thus, Dorothy had the statutory power to execute the December Admission Agreement and bind Mr. Holmes to the waiver of jury trial provision.

Dorothy was asked about the December Admission Agreement and waiver of jury trial provision in her deposition. She admitted she initialed each page of the December Admission Agreement. [R. p. 175, l. 2 – 11.] She admitted she read as much of it as possible but skimmed through some of it. [R. p. 172, l. 14 – 15.] When asked if she had agreed to a non-jury trial, she answered “[w]ell, my signature is here. That’s not forged.” [R. p. 174, l. 23.] Thus, Dorothy had the power to, and did in fact, waive the right to a jury trial.

Margaret waived the right to a jury trial in the February Admission Agreement.¹ Margaret was asked about this agreement in her deposition, and she started by confirming that she had initialed each page. [R. p. 90, l. 4 – 8.] She said she skimmed through it, but she admitted she was not rushed. [R. p. 91, l. 6 – 24.] In fact, she admitted that although she may have skimmed it, she had the opportunity to read it. [R. p. 91, l. 25 – p. 92, l. 4.] Here again, Margaret, as Mr. Holmes’ sister and responsible party, had the right to execute the February Admission Agreement and bind Mr. Holmes to all the terms thereof.

- b. Respondent is equitably estopped from asserting claims founded in duties arising out of the Admission Agreements while simultaneously attempting to disclaim the waiver of jury trial provisions contained within the Admission Agreements.**

¹ As noted above, the Respondent’s complaint stems from David’s initial admission to Bayview in December 2014; however, out of an abundance of caution, the February Admission Agreement will be addressed as well.

The trial court misapprehended the case law concerning equitable estoppel. The court found the waiver of jury trial provisions did not benefit Mr. Holmes, and because it conferred no benefit upon him, the Respondent should not be estopped from challenging those provisions. [R. p. 14.]

The Admission Agreements served as the foundation for Mr. Holmes' admission to Bayview and the duties and obligations which Mr. Holmes and Bayview had to one another. Bayview agreed to provide Mr. Holmes with care and treatment, and Mr. Holmes agreed to pay for the care and treatment. Without the Admission Agreements, there would have been no relationship between the parties.

All the Respondent's claims are dependent on the duties which arise from the terms of the Admission Agreements. Respondent cannot disclaim the waiver of jury trial clauses which are a part of the Admission Agreements, while at the same time assert claims arising under other terms of the Admission Agreements, and Respondent should be equitably estopped from doing so. There is ample case law on equitable estoppel in the context of arbitration provisions, and while the following cases address the enforceability of arbitration clauses, the reasoning applies equally to waiver of jury trial provisions.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel "exists to prevent a litigant from unfairly receiving the benefit of a contract while at the same time repudiating what it believes to be a disadvantage in the contract, namely the contractual arbitration provision." Southern Ill. Beverage, Inc. v. Hansen Beverage Co., 2007 WL 3046273 at *11 (S.D. Ill. 2007). The Fourth Circuit has held that "no party suing on a contract should be able to enforce certain contract provisions while simultaneously attempting to avoid the terms of an arbitration provision therein." United States v. Bankers Ins. Co., 245 F.3d 315, 323 (4th Cir. 2001); see also Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen &

Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 418 (4th Cir. 2000) (“To allow [a plaintiff] to claim the benefit of the contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying enactment of the Arbitration Act.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). It would be manifestly inequitable to permit a party to claim the other has failed to perform on its contractual obligations, while at the same time allowing that party to avoid the arbitration provisions of the contract upon which the party bases its claims, when such claims are in the scope of the arbitration provisions. Hughes Masonry Co. v. Greater Clark County School Bldg. Corp., 659 F.2d 836, 838-39 (7th Cir. 1981). In other words, plaintiff cannot “have it both ways” by relying upon certain terms of the Admission Agreement when it works to his advantage and repudiating others when it works to his disadvantage. Id.

In THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins, 2011 WL 4089435 (D.S.C. 2011), the United States District Court of South Carolina addressed this issue as well. Deborah Wiggins executed an admissions contract for the admission of her father, Earl Hall, into the Magnolia Manor nursing home. After a dispute arose, Magnolia Manor moved to compel arbitration of the dispute. Wiggins countered by arguing the admissions contract was unenforceable because there was nothing in the record to indicate she had authority to act as agent for her father, to legally bind her father, or to waive her father’s right to a jury trial. One of Magnolia Manor’s arguments in response was that Wiggins, as personal representative of her father’s estate, was estopped from denying the contract formation. Id. at *5.

The court noted it was undisputed that the contract was signed by an immediate family member of Hall for the purpose of obtaining residential care for him at Magnolia Manor. After the contract was executed, Hall became a resident and received the benefits provided for under the admissions contract. The court then held that when Magnolia Manor performed in reliance on the

terms of the admissions contract, and Hall received the benefits under the admissions contract, it would be inequitable for Hall's estate to avoid the arbitration provision within the admissions contract. The court ruled that Hall's estate was equitably estopped from disclaiming the enforceability of the admissions contract and the arbitration provision contained therein. Id. at *6.

Respondent, in the instant case, has brought claims arising from services rendered to Mr. Holmes under the Admission Agreements between the parties. In accordance with the foregoing law, Respondent cannot assert claims against Bayview arising under the Admission Agreements while repudiating the waiver of jury trial clause. Plaintiff should be estopped from doing so.²

c. Mr. Holmes was the intended and direct beneficiary of the Admission Agreements containing the waiver of jury trial provisions.

² It should be noted that both South Carolina's Supreme Court and Court of Appeals addressed equitable estoppel in Coleman v. Marnier Health Care, Inc. et al., 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014), and Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct.App.2016). In neither case did the courts enforce the arbitration provisions under the doctrine of equitable estoppel; however, there was one important distinction which distinguished these cases from Wiggins and the case at bar. In both Coleman and Thompson, the courts noted the arbitration provisions were in Arbitration Agreements separate and apart from the Admission Agreements, and that there was no merger of the two agreements. As a result, the court in Coleman did not reach the actual merits of the equitable estoppel argument. The court in Thompson, on the other hand, provided a little more discussion on the topic. In discussing cases which have applied equitable estoppel, the court noted the nonsignatory's contractual benefit typically arose from another provision in the same contract that includes the arbitration provision, rather than an alleged benefit arising only under a separately executed arbitration agreement. Thompson, 784 S.E.2d at 688. Here, in the case at bar, there were contractual benefits directed to Mr. Holmes in terms of the care and services he received under the Admission Agreements which also contained the waiver of jury trial clauses.

Also, more recently, the South Carolina Court of Appeals addressed the equitable estoppel argument in Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, et al., 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018). Again, like the facts of Coleman and Thompson, the admission agreement and arbitration agreement were separate agreements which the court found did not merge. The court in Hodge then stated that even if the agreements were merged, because the family was not suing for breach of the admission agreement, they were not attempting to enforce the admission agreement. This last point was mere dictum and is not binding authority. Hodge, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

Respondent is bound to the waiver of jury trial provisions because Mr. Holmes was a third-party beneficiary of the Admission Agreements. It is clear from the plain language of the Admission Agreements that Mr. Holmes was the intended beneficiary and that the purpose of the Admission Agreements was to ensure Bayview would provide the services laid out therein. Mr. Holmes did, in fact, receive those services.

Cases addressing third-party beneficiaries in the arbitration context are instructive on waiver of jury trial provisions as well. See Trinity Mission Health & Rehabilitation of Clinton v. Estate of Scott, 19 So.3d 735 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008.) (holding that a non-signatory, deceased mother, was an intended third-party beneficiary of a nursing home admission agreement that included an arbitration provision; and the arbitration provisions were enforceable against her daughter, who signed the admission agreement, since it was evident that the admissions agreement clearly was intended to provide benefits to her mother as a resident of the facility; accordingly the court held that mother was a third-party beneficiary of the contract; therefore, plaintiff was bound to arbitrate any claims within the scope of the arbitration provision).

Appellants' position is supported by the South Carolina federal district court opinion in Wiggins applying South Carolina law. See 2011 WL 4089435. As set forth above, in Wiggins, Deborah Wiggins executed an admissions contract containing an arbitration clause for the admission of her father, Earl Hall, into the Magnolia Manor nursing home. The Wiggins Court noted that the third-party beneficiary doctrine is well-accepted in South Carolina and that pursuant to that doctrine, a third party may be bound to a contract when it is shown that she was the intended and direct beneficiary of the contract. Id. at *6, quoting Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall, Co., 363 S.C. 334, 611 S.E.2d 485 (2005), Touchberry v. Florence, 295 S.C. 47, 367 S.E.2d 149 (1988). Applying the third-party beneficiary doctrine, the Wiggins Court correctly reasoned that because

the resident's care was the essential purpose of the admissions contract, the arbitration provision within the contract remained binding on Hall's Estate. Id.

It is clear the Admission Agreements were for Mr. Holmes' benefit and that he directly benefited from their execution. It follows that Respondent is bound to the waiver of jury trial provisions as a result of Mr. Holmes' status as a third-party beneficiary under the Admission Agreements.

d. Dorothy and Margaret possessed authority to bind Mr. Holmes to the Admission Agreements under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act.

Dorothy and Margaret had authority to bind Mr. Holmes to the waiver of jury trial provisions pursuant to the South Carolina's Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-10, et seq. ("AHCCA").

The AHCCA defines "health care" as including intermediate or skilled nursing care. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(1). It also specifically includes "the placement in or removal from a facility that provides these forms of care." Id. David was unable to make health care decisions on his own behalf as evidenced by his medical records. As noted by his physician immediately prior to his initial admission to Bayview, he was in a vegetative state. [R. p. 105.] In fact, from the time of his initial hospitalization until he died several months later, he never regained consciousness. [R. p. 169, l. 24 – p. 170, l. 9.]

Dorothy, both as Guardian and as an adult sibling, and Margaret, as an adult sibling, were entitled to consent to health care on behalf of David pursuant to the AHCCA.³ S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A)(1) and (7). This included placing him at Bayview and executing all paperwork on

³ Mr. Holmes had four siblings at the time of his admission to Bayview – Joseph Holmes, Alexander Holmes, Dorothy and Margaret. He was never married and had no children. His parents were deceased. [R. p. 167, l. 23 – 25; p. 168, l. 8 – 19; R. p. 177, l. 24 – p. 178, l. 10.]

Mr. Holmes' behalf associated with his placement at Bayview. Accordingly, the Admission Agreements, including the waiver of jury trial provisions, are binding on Respondent.

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