STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JAN 18 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County
Court of Common Pleas

Perry M. Buckner, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-07-02636
Appeal No. 2018-001092

Joseph Holmes, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mr. Holmes Holmes,

Respondent,

v.

Bayview Manor, LLC, d/b/a Bayview Manor, Epic Group, LP, and Epic General, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANASTOPOULO LAW FIRM, LLC
Stefan B. Feidler (SC #101918)
Eric M. Poulin (SC #100209)
Roy T. Willey, IV (SC #101010)
32 Ann Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
Phone (843) 614-8888
Facsimile (843) 494-5536

Attorneys for the Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

As an initial matter, neither Appellant Epic Group, LLC nor Appellant Epic General, LLC are parties to the Admission Agreement that contains the waiver of jury trial at issue. Therefore, neither Appellant Epic Group, LLC nor Appellant Epic General have standing to appeal these matters.

Second, it is important to note that the Appellants are not attempting to compel arbitration. As such, the Federal Arbitration Act is not applicable to the arguments at hand, and the FAA’s “presumption” of enforceability does not apply. Rather, this issue depends entirely upon the application of State law.

While South Carolina courts allow and enforce pre-litigation jury trial waivers, these waivers must be strictly construed. The South Carolina Supreme Court accepted the validity of a pre-litigation jury trial waivers in North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 534, 416 S.E.2d 637, 637 (1992), citing the similar conclusion from the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in Leasing Serv. Corp. v. Crane, where the Fourth Circuit states:

The seventh amendment right is of course a fundamental one, but it is one that can be knowingly and intentionally waived by contract. Where waiver is claimed under a contract executed before litigation is contemplated, we agree with those courts that have held that the party seeking enforcement of the waiver must prove that consent was *both voluntary and informed*.

Leasing Serv. Corp. v. Crane, 804 F.2d 828, 832–33 (4th Cir. 1986) (citations omitted)

(emphasis added).

I. The “Waiver of Jury Trial” appears to have been a required precondition to admission to Appellant’s Facility.

The Waiver at issue was contained within the Admission Agreement, not included in a separate document. Additionally, in contrast to the “Optional Arbitration Clause,” the Waiver in no way indicated that it was optional, or that the resident had the ability to strike that provision. Instead, it was presented as part of the Admission Agreement, in such a way as to suggest that it was a pre-condition to admission, and that failure to agree to the Waiver would result in a rejection of the resident’s admission. If true, this renders the Waiver unenforceable both because the demand for this precondition violates federal law and is *per se* unenforceable, and because the Waiver violates state law principles of unconscionability.

a. The waiver is unenforceable as it violates Federal law.

An illegal contract is unenforceable. Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 53 n. 2, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 n. 2 (1993). “The general rule is that courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the Constitution.” Id. Federal regulations require Medicare and Medicaid certified facilities to accept Medicare/Medicaid reimbursement rates as payment in full. See 42 C.F.R. § 489.30; 42 C.F.R. § 447.15. Moreover, such facilities, in the case of an individual who is entitled to medical assistance, must “not charge, solicit, accept, or receive, in addition to any amount otherwise required to be paid under the state plan...any other consideration as a precondition of admitting (or expediting the admission of) the individual to the facility or as a requirement for the individual’s continued stay at the facility.” 42 U.S.C. § 1396(c)(5)(A)(iii). This is exactly the reason that we often see arbitration agreements and similar requests in documents separate and apart from the admission agreement, and why facilities take pains to state that the agreements are voluntary and not a precondition to admission. Indeed, even as to the Appellants, they apparently recognize this, as they explicitly give residents the option to opt out of the arbitration clause (which Respondent’s did in this case).

It is undisputed that Mr. Holmes was not a self-pay admission to Appellants’ facility, but rather that the facility did bill Medicare/Medicaid for his stay. As such, Appellants were prohibited from soliciting, accepting, or receiving Mr. Holmes’ agreement to waive the right to a jury trial as a precondition of his admission. Therefore, to the extent Appellants argue that the Waiver in question was a precondition to Mr. Holmes’ admission, the Waiver should be severed from the Agreement as violative of federal law and, therefore, unenforceable.

b. The waiver is unenforceable due to the doctrine of unconscionability.

Even if federal law did not prohibit Appellants requiring a jury waiver as a precondition for admission, such a requirement would be unenforceable under South Carolina law as unconscionable.

Generally, an adhesion contract is a standard form contract offered on a take-it or leave-it basis with terms that are not negotiable. Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 330 S.C. 388, 498 S.E.2d 898 (Ct.App.1998). If Appellants did argue that the Waiver was a required precondition to Mr. Holmes' admission, the Admission Agreement would constitute a contract of adhesion. While an adhesion contract is not *per se* unconscionable, it represents an absence of meaningful choice. See Fanning v. Fritz's Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc., 322 S.C. 399, 472 S.E.2d 242 (1996) (unconscionability is the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them).

Here, it is apparent that the jury Waiver provision is one sided. Indeed, while it requires the resident to waive his/her right to trial by jury, it requires no such waiver by the facility. Likewise, if the Waiver were indeed a precondition to admission, it would present residents such as Mr. Holmes with no meaningful choice. Instead, it requires a resident to choose between the forced waiver of a constitutional right, and the ability to receive necessary and often times emergent medical care. Because this Hobson's Choice is so oppressive that no fair and honest person would require it, the provision is unconscionable and should not be enforced.

II. If the “Waiver of Jury Trial” was optional and not required, it is nonetheless invalid.

In order to cure the deficiencies noted above, Appellants may argue that the jury Waiver was negotiable and not a pre-condition to admission. Indeed, this is the way most skilled nursing facilities attempt to force such restrictive provisions upon their residents. However, due to the language of the Waiver, and the fact that it was not signed by Mr. Holmes, this argument would not alter the outcome.

a. The Waiver lacks consideration.

It is axiomatic that every contract in South Carolina must be supported by mutual consideration in order to be valid and enforceable. Here, if Appellants concede (as they must) that the Waiver was not made in consideration of admission, there must exist some other consideration to make the clause enforceable. However, there is none.

Consideration may consist of “some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other.” Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P’ship, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct.App.1998). A typical argument for finding consideration in an arbitration agreement is that arbitration is quicker and less costly than litigation. While this may or may not be true (often it is not), the same rationale does not apply to the waiver of the right to trial by jury. A non-jury trial requires the same discovery and the same amount of preparation as a jury trial. Therefore, there is no rational argument that can be made that a person waiving his/her right to trial by jury enjoys some benefit. Likewise, in the instant matter, the Waiver applies only to residents of the facility and not the Appellants themselves, meaning Appellants suffered no forbearance or detriment in the transaction.

Because Respondent reaps no benefit from the Waiver, and because Appellants suffer no loss, the Waiver is not supported by valuable (or any) consideration. As such, the provision should be stricken as unenforceable.

b. The Waiver is inconspicuous and ambiguous.

In determining whether a party has knowingly and voluntarily waived its right to a jury trial by contract, the South Carolina Supreme Court has looked at whether the waiver is 1) conspicuous in its location within the contract, and 2) unambiguous in its wording. Wachovia Bank v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 333 n.8, 755 S.E.2d 437, 443 n8 (2014) (finding jury trial waivers were conspicuous and unambiguous when waivers were printed in all capital letters and had a bold heading titled “**WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL**”).

i. Ambiguous

First, the waiver at issue is, at best, ambiguous. There is nothing within the Waiver itself to reflect that. Instead, the Waiver appears to be a part of the Admission Agreement and a non-negotiable pre-condition to admission. This is further illustrated when compared with the arbitration section of the Agreement, which states that arbitration is “Optional” and allows the person signing to decline by marking an “X.” The jury waiver provision was much less clear. Here, both sisters testified that they would NOT have agreed to waive a jury trial had they thought there was a choice in the matter. [R. p. 346, lines 7-9; R. p. 591-592, lines 17-15, lines 16.] While it might be expected that anybody would testify this way after the fact, it is important to note that both sisters did opt out of arbitration. Therefore, their testimony now is consistent with their actions back then and there is no reason to believe that they would not also have opted out of the jury Waiver had the clause been clear that they had the option to do so.

This provision was also ambiguous as to what was actually being waived. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that “[a] contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning when viewed objectively by a reasonably intelligent person who has examined the context of the entire agreement and who is cognizant of the customs, practices, usages, and terminology as generally understood in the particular trade or practice. Williams v. GEICO, App. Case No. 2011-196449, 2014 WL 4087598, at *3(S.C. Aug. 20, 2014) (quoting Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997)).

The Waiver at issue purports to apply to “any litigation, including any counterclaim which Resident may assert, arising from or relating to this Agreement or any other document connected with this Agreement, or arising out of or relating to any of the said documents or any relationship between the Facility and Resident, including the Resident’s admission itself, or any other course of conduct, course of dealing statements (whether verbal or written) or actions of the facility or Resident.” This could reasonably be understood as waiving only causes of action arising out of the contract, and not tort actions. If read that way, this action, a tort action, would not be covered by the Waiver. Moreover, where ambiguity does exist, even if the ambiguity is not such as to render the entire provision invalid, the terms should be construed against the drafter. If such construction were applied against Appellants here, their Motion, and appeal, would necessarily have to be denied.

ii. Inconspicuous

With respect to whether the trial waiver is conspicuous within the document, our courts have looked at such factors as: 1) whether the heading of the waiver is in bold typeface or underlined; 2) whether the language of the waiver is in all-capital letters; 3) whether the waiver

is near the signature page or buried within the contract; and 3) whether the jury trial waiver stands out in some way from the other paragraphs in the contract.

Here, the Waiver is not conspicuous. The language in the Waiver is not in all-capital letters. This includes the heading. Second, the Waiver is not near the signature page, but instead buried within the contract on page 9 of 11. This is further evident by the fact that the Arbitration provision, which both Dorothy and Margaret voided, is on the signature page, above the signature line, and contains language that is in CAPITALS and in **bold**. Finally, the jury trial waiver does not stand out. Instead, the Waiver mirrors every other provision in the Admission Agreement except the Arbitration provision which was voided by both Dorothy and Margaret.

Therefore, based on the above, the Waiver is not conspicuous.

c. Decedent's sisters lacked authority execute the Waiver on Decedent's behalf.

As noted in the Introduction, Decedent's sister Dorothy Olenja was Mr. Holmes' court appointed guardian at the time both Admission Agreements were signed. As such, it is clear that sister Margaret Holmes did not have authority to sign the second Admission Agreement. Appellants argue that Margaret would have had authority under the South Carolina Adult Healthcare Consent Act ("AHCCA") S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-10 *et seq.* However, the AHCCA specifically provides for an "Order of Priority" which lists a Court appointed guardian as having priority over any other sibling. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). A healthcare facility cannot avoid this order of priority unless "a health care provider responsible for the care of a patient who is unable to consent determines that the person [with priority] is not reasonably available, is not willing to make health care decisions for the patient, or is unable to consent..." . S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(D). Finally, "[d]ocumentation of efforts to locate a decision maker who is a person identified in subsection (A) must be recorded in the patient's medical record." S.C. Code

Ann. § 44-66-30(B). Appellants knew that Dorothy was Decedent's court appointed guardian (as she was the person who signed the first Admission Agreement). There is no evidence in the medical chart to suggest that Dorothy was unavailable or unwilling to sign the second Admission Agreement. As such, Margaret's signature on the second Admission Agreement is invalid.

The only remaining question, then, is whether, on the first admission, Dorothy's court appointed guardianship conferred upon her the power to waive decedent's right to a jury trial. The case law is clear on this issue that she did not. Although dealing with an arbitration agreement, as opposed to a jury trial waiver, the case of Coleman v. Mariner Healthcare, Inc., 407 S.C. 346 (2014) is almost directly on point. In Coleman, the Decedent's sister was presented with an Admission Agreement and a separate Arbitration Agreement, and signed both. The sister was authorized to do so under the AHCCA as discussed above. In invalidating the Arbitration Agreement, the Court held:

Here, Sister was presented with two documents at each of Decedent's admissions: a "RESIDENTIAL ADMISSION AND FINANCIAL AGREEMENT" and an "AGREEMENT FOR ARBITRATION." The admission and financial agreement provides that it "sets forth the terms under which the Facility will provide long term care health services to [Decedent] and how the [Decedent] will pay for such services." Assent to this contract was a condition for Decedent's admission to Facility. On the other hand, the AA was not required for Decedent's admission, contained no provision for medical, nursing, or health care services to be provided for Decedent, and did not require any financial commitment to pay for such services. **The scope of Sister's authority to consent to "decisions concerning Decedent's health care" extended to the admission agreement, which was the basis upon which Facility agreed to provide health care and Sister agreed to pay for it. The separate arbitration agreement concerned neither health care nor payment, but instead provided an optional method for dispute resolution between Facility and Decedent or Sister should issues arise in the future.**

Under the Act, Sister did not have the capacity to bind Decedent to this voluntary arbitration agreement. We therefore affirm the circuit court's holding that the Act did not confer authority on Sister to execute a document which involved neither health care nor financial terms for payment of such care.

-Coleman, 407 S.C. at 353-354 (**emphasis added**)

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